#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Fearghal McCarthy, a father falsely accused of abusing his own children.

#### II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of McCarthy v. Cty. of Clark, 46347-4-II, 2016 WL 1448352, at \*1 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 12, 2016)(Appx. A).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 3.1 Should this Court clarify the relation between its precedent in *Tyner v. DSHS* and *M.W. v. DSHS* because Appeals Court precedent now departs significantly from the Supreme Court's decision in *Tyner v. DSHS* and undermines the statutory policies set forth in RCW 26.44.050?
- 3.2 Should this Court give effect to RCW 26.44.050's legislative intent that the relationship between a child and her parent should not be interfered with and disrupted?
- 3.3 If this Court accepts review, should this Court also review the related issue of whether, based on *Gilliam v. DSHS*, the Court of Appeals invaded the province of the jury in determining whether the City of Vancouver has legal liability for negligent investigation under RCW 26.44 and malicious interference?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For a detailed statement of the case, please review the appellate briefs and the Petition for Review filed on behalf of the plaintiff children.

#### V. ARGUMENT

Review should be accepted in this case because under RAP 13.4(b), considerations 1, 2, and 4 apply. First, the decision of Division Two is in

conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. Second, there is conflict among published Court of Appeals decisions. Third, this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

## A. The Decision in this case alters Supreme Court Precedent and conflicts with a Division One decision.

This decision by Division Two conflicts with and alters this Court's decision in *Tyner v. DSHS*. The decision also conflicts directly with a decision from Division One in *Rodriguez v. Perez*. Finally, claims involving the tort of negligent investigation are very often high profile claims involving serious injury to children, and therefore of substantial public interest. Preventing injuries to children involve the highest priorities in public policy. In that regard, this Court has stated:

The *Babcock* court noted that "[t]he existence of some tort liability will encourage DSHS to avoid negligent conduct and leave open the possibility that those injured by DSHS's negligence can recover." *Babcock*, 116 Wash.2d at 622, 809 P.2d 143. "Accountability through tort liability ... may be the only way of assuring a certain standard of performance."

Tyner, 141 Wn.2d 68, 80-81, 1 P.3d 1148, 1155 (2000).

By judicial feat, the Court of Appeals in this case has all but eliminated the tort of negligent investigation, and subverted the strong

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 141 Wn.2d 68, 71, 1 P.3d 1148, 1150 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 99 Wn. App. 439, 442, 994 P.2d 874, 876 (2000)

public policies underlying RCW 26.44.050. By stating that law enforcement cannot be held liable unless the agency makes a harmful placement decision, the court immunizes law enforcement, which does not make "placement" decisions under any circumstances. That task is left to DSHS. And yet, by immunizing law enforcement, contrary to the clear terms of RCW 26.44.050, the court in this case further immunizes DSHS, which will simply leave the investigations to law enforcement and then make "placement" decisions based on law enforcement's investigations. This is specifically the danger envisioned by Division One in *Rodriguez v. Perez*.

The origin of Division Two's error can be found in this Court's holding in *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). That decision has caused unnecessary confusion, and deprived injured Washington children of remedies that should have been available to them. Therefore, this Court must clarify its holding in *M.W.* and return to core tort principles so that the appellate courts and trial courts can more appropriately and justly assess negligent investigation claims. For these reasons, this Court should accept review.

# B. The history of the negligent investigation claim in Washington

The claim for negligent investigation first arose in Washington with this Court's 1991 decision in *Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 596, 622, 809 P.2d 143, 157 (1991). While not specifically addressing the issue of duty, this Court did address issues of immunity. The *Babcock* decision was followed by a number of appellate court decisions dealing with a variety of factual circumstances involving negligent investigation claims against DSHS. Courts struggled with the tort and the various defenses raised by the State. Frequently tort principles were jumbled or misapplied.

In Lesley for Lesley v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 83 Wn. App. 263, 273, 921 P.2d 1066 (1996), the appellate court explicitly recognized that DSHS owed a duty to investigate allegations of child abuse in a non-negligent manner pursuant to RCW 26.44.050. Although the court in Lesley referenced RCW 26.44.050, it did not explicitly hold that the statute created an implied cause of action.

A year later, the court of appeals examined the argument raised by the State that the public duty doctrine prevented liability in negligent investigation claims. *Yonker By & Through Snudden v. State Dep't of Soc.* & *Health Servs*<sub>2</sub>, 85 Wn. App. 71, 81, 930 P.2d 958 (1997). The court reasoned that the legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine

permitted claims against the State. *Yonker*, 85 Wn. App. at 81. Thus, the court recognized that the duty was owed to a particular class of individuals rather than to the public as a whole. *Id*.

In Gilliam v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., Child Protective Servs., 89 Wn. App. 569, 587, 950 P.2d 20, 29 (1998), a father who was falsely accused of abusing his children brought an action against DSHS. He asserted that he had been separated from his children for a lengthy period as a result of the flawed and biased investigation of DSHS. The trial court however dismissed his case on a directed verdict because of absolute immunity. The court of appeals reversed. The concurring opinion of Judge Baker is remarkable in that it raises the question of proximate cause and the appropriate measure of damage recoverable in such a claim for really the first time. Gilliam, 89 Wn. App. at 587.

Finally, this Court decided unequivocally that DSHS and law enforcement owe a duty to both children and their parents accused of abusing them to non-negligently investigate claims of suspected child abuse. *Tyner v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., Child Protective Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 73, 1 P.3d 1148, 1151 (2000). The facts in *Tyner* are important to the discussion of this case.

Starting on January 11, 1993, Mrs. Tyner initiated conversations with her two young children about their father. Within several days Mrs.

Tyner was in civil court seeking a protection order against Mr. Tyner. To obtain the protection order, she requested and received assistance from a DSHS social worker. The social worker wrote a detailed declaration indicating that he would file in the future a dependency proceeding but that in the meantime the father should only have supervised visitation. The civil court entered a protection order prohibiting Mr. Tyner from seeing his children on January 15, 1993. *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 74.

The State did not file a dependency petition until January 26, 1993, and a court hearing was not held until January 29, 1993. *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 74. The social worker had at around the time of the shelter care hearing prepared a pre-printed report that determined the allegations against Mr. Tyner were unfounded but did not share the information with the dependency court. *Id.* The dependency was dismissed in June of 1993. Eventually, Mr. Tyner was awarded joint custody with no restrictions in the dissolution proceeding. *Id.* 

The Court first addressed whether the State owes a duty of care in conducting an investigation of parental child abuse to the parent suspected of such abuse. Mr. Tyner contended that he had an implied cause of action pursuant to RCW 26.44.050. *Id.* 141 Wn.2d 68, 76. In footnote 4, this Court noted that the test set forth in *Bennet v. Hardy* is borrowed from the

federal courts and is similar to § 874A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, which reads:

When a legislative provision protects a class of persons by proscribing or requiring certain conduct but does not provide a civil remedy for the violation, the court may, if it determines that the remedy is appropriate in furtherance of the purpose of the legislation and needed to assure the effectiveness of the provision, accord to an injured member of the class a right of action, using a suitable existing tort action or a new cause of action analogous to an existing tort action.

Tyner, at 78, footnote 4, (quoting, Restatement (Second) of Torts § 874A (1979)).<sup>3</sup> In accordance with the Restatement and *Bennet v. Hardy*, this Court recognized that DSHS owed a duty of care to both the children suspected of abuse, and the parent suspected of abusing them. *Id.* 

The Court in *Tyner* then assessed the impact of the various protection orders entered in Mr. Tyner's case that prohibited him from seeing his children. In doing so, this Court did not make such an assessment under the rubric of whether a duty was owed, or even the scope of the duty owed by DSHS, but whether the entry of the protection orders constituted a superseding intervening cause that broke the chain of causation thereby preventing liability from attaching to the State's negligent acts. Specifically, this Court held:

We hold that a judge's no-contact order will act as superseding intervening cause, precluding liability of the State for negligent

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Twenty two Washington cases cite this provision of the Restatement with approval.

investigation, only if all material information has been presented to the court and reasonable minds could not differ as to this question.

Tyner, 141 Wn.2d at 88. However, in many respects the *Tyner* decision is inconsistent with general tort principles regarding whether a cause is a superseding, intervening cause. As an example, generally the chain of proximate causation is not broken when the defendant, in the exercise of ordinary care, should reasonably have anticipated that the independent intervening cause, force, or act was likely to happen. *Adamson v. Traylor*, 60 Wn.2d 332, 373 P.2d 961 (1962). "If the acts are ... within the ambit of the hazards covered by the duty imposed upon the defendant, they are foreseeable and do not supersede the defendant's negligence." *Cramer v. Dep't of Highways*, 73 Wn. App. 516, 870 P.2d 999 (1994).

WPI 15.05 sets forth the basic tort principles regarding superseding causes. <sup>4</sup> The *Tyner* court ignored this fundamental basis for assessing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A superseding cause is a new independent cause that breaks the chain of proximate causation between a defendant's negligence and an *injury*.

If you find that the defendant was negligent but that the sole proximate cause of the *injury* was a later independent intervening *cause* that the defendant, in the exercise of ordinary care, could not reasonably have anticipated, then any negligence of the defendant is superseded and such negligence was not a proximate cause of the *injury*. If, however, you find that the defendant was negligent and that in the exercise of ordinary care, the defendant should reasonably have anticipated the later independent intervening *cause that cause* does not supersede defendant's original

whether a court order is a new independent cause, or simply a cause that should have been anticipated. When DSHS or law enforcement negligently investigate allegations of abuse, the general field of danger created by a faulty investigation includes interference with the parent-child relationship. When a parent and a child are suddenly separated without adequate explanation both the child and the parent are injured. Thus, most of the factual circumstances where there is any interference between the parent-child relationship should not be considered an independent cause, but rather the foreseeable and natural consequence of a negligent investigation.

In most of the negligent investigation cases, protection orders are put into place separating the parent suspected of abuse and the child. WPI 15.05 makes it clear that whether such orders are independent causes unrelated entirely to the negligent investigation is properly a question of fact for the jury to resolve, and not a court to consider.

negligence and you may find that the defendant's negligence was a proximate cause of the *injury*.

It is not necessary that the sequence of events or the particular resultant *injury* be foreseeable. It is only necessary that the resultant *injury* fall within the general field of danger which the defendant should reasonably have anticipated.

WPI 15.05

While ignoring the controlling WPI and instead imposing a standard emanating from the defense of probable cause in false arrest claims, this Court in *Tyner* nonetheless acknowledged that whether a court order constitutes a superseding cause is a question of fact for the jury to resolve, and not appropriate to resolve on summary judgment.

### C. M.W. v. DSHS; the origin of error

In this case, the Court of Appeals jumbles the analysis, switching frequently between issues of duty, scope of duty and proximate cause. The court decides as a purported matter of "first impression" that a criminal court protection order separating a non-abusive father from his children does not constitute a "harmful placement decision." In reaching this bizarre result the court relies chiefly on this Court's holding in *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). No case has created more confusion and mischief than has *M.W.* in recent years. Like this Court's holding in *Tyner*, the facts of *M.W.*, and this Court's analysis merit detailed analysis given the appellate court's reliance on *M.W.* 

The facts of *M.W.* are hopefully unique. In that case, a biological father alleged that the foster parents of his child were sexually abusing her. As a result of the allegation, the foster parents were directed to bring the child to a DSHS office, where social workers took the child into a

conference room. The unqualified social workers then "examined" the infant's vaginal area by touching it. The foster mother's description of the "exam" sounds like a sexual assault. *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 592. The infant was later taken to Mary Bridge to be examined by appropriate professionals who found no evidence of sexual abuse. M.W., the foster father and his wife, then sued the State on behalf of J.C.W. alleging negligent investigation. *Id*.

This Court begins its analysis by discussing the scope of the duty owed to J.C.W. The Court explained:

This case requires us to define the scope of the duty of the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) while investigating child abuse allegations. We must determine whether the statute requiring DSHS to investigate reported child abuse allows a claim against DSHS for negligent investigation under the facts of this case.

M.W. at 591. However, the Court did not assess the scope of the duty at all. The scope of a duty owed is generally governed by principles of foreseeability. Where harm to a person protected by a statute is a foreseeable result of the statute's violation, liability may be imposed. Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Mkt., Inc., 134 Wn.2d 468, 477, 951 P.2d 749 (1998). Foreseeability is used to limit the scope of the duty owed because actors are responsible only for the foreseeable consequences of their acts. Schooley, at 477. Foreseeability is normally an issue for the trier of fact

and will be decided as a matter of law only where reasonable minds cannot differ. *Id.* Certainly the Court could have concluded that it was not foreseeable that a social worker would sexually assault an infant as part of sexual abuse investigation. Had this Court analyzed the case pursuant to these basic tort principles little confusion would have been engendered by its holding.

But the Court in *M.W.* did not assess issues of foreseeability at all. Rather, the Court reexamined the *Bennet v. Hardy* elements, apparently to determine whether RCW 26.44.010 created an implied cause of action, something the Court had already decided in *Tyner*. Predictably, the Court again explicitly determined that the first two elements of the *Bennett* test had been met. In its analysis the Court exclusively focused on the third *Bennett* factor. The Court's analysis was not consistent with the purpose of the final element, and resulted in the bizarre and confusing adoption of the term "harmful placement decision."

The third *Bennett* factor is intended to determine whether implying a remedy is consistent with the purpose and intent of the legislation. That a tort remedy is consistent with the intent of the legislature was already decided in *Tyner* when this Court stated:

An implied tort remedy in favor of a parent is also consistent with the underlying purposes of RCW 26.44.050, thereby satisfying the third prong of the *Bennett* test. RCW 26.44.050 has two purposes: to protect children and preserve the integrity of the family.

Tyner, 141 Wn.2d at 80-81.

The analysis the Court should have performed in *M.W.* was whether a battery during the course of a sexual abuse allegation was foreseeable. If the Court was going to again assess the *Bennett* factors, then it should have assessed the first element, whether the statute intended a cause of action for the particular plaintiff involved in the case, J.C.W., under the circumstances presented. Explanation of this distinction can be found in *Davis v. Passman*, 442 U.S. 228, 239, 99 S. Ct. 2264, 2274, 60 L. Ed. 2d 846 (1979). There the Supreme Court explained:

In cases such as these, the question is which class of litigants may enforce in court legislatively created rights or obligations. If a litigant is an appropriate party to invoke the power of the courts, it is said that he has a "cause of action" under the statute, and that this cause of action is a necessary element of his "claim." So understood, the question whether a litigant has a "cause of action" is analytically distinct and prior to the question of what relief, if any, a litigant may be entitled to receive. The concept of a "cause of action" is employed specifically to determine who may judicially enforce the statutory rights or obligations.

Davis v. Passman, 442 U.S. 228, 239, 99 S. Ct. 2264, 2274, 60 L. Ed. 2d 846 (1979). Thus, the Court in *M.W.* could have simply ruled that J.C.W. was not a party that could enforce the statutory cause of action because her relationship with her parents was not interfered with in any way. The better approach would have been to simply recognize that it was not

foreseeable that J.C.W. would be assaulted by the social workers investigating whether she had been abused by her foster parents.

In reaching its decision, the Court relied on the flawed analysis employed by Judge Morgan in his dissenting opinion from the *M.W.* court of appeals decision. In that dissent, Judge Morgan assessed the sorts of factual circumstances that had previously been pled as negligent investigation cases. He reasoned that such factual circumstances should serve to limit what factual circumstances could be pled in the future. Such a flawed analysis ignores the construct adopted by this Court in *Tyner*, and imposes an illogical basis for limiting the tort of negligent investigation.

Proof of the flawed analysis is seen in how Judge Morgan dealt with the case of *Dunning v. Parcerelli* in his dissent. In *Dunning*, filed as a negligent investigation case, child care workers who worked at the notorious OK Boys Ranch were allegedly improperly labeled as child abusers on a DSHS database. The child care workers sued DSHS for negligent investigation. The *Dunning* court held that the child care workers had such a claim. *Dunning v. Pacerelli*, 63 Wn. App. 232, 243, 818 P.2d 34, 40 (1991). Rather than the adding the facts of *Dunning* case to his compilation, Judge Morgan asserted that *Dunning* was properly construed as a defamation case and could therefore be ignored. Yet, it was

from the ruins of Judge Morgan's logic that this Court adopted the term "harmful placement decision." The Court in *M.W.* stated:

Therefore, a claim for negligent investigation against DSHS is available only to children, parents, and guardians of children who are harmed because DSHS has gathered incomplete or biased information that results in a *harmful placement decision*.

M. W., 149 Wn.2d at 602 (emphasis added).

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