#### NO. 93280-8

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### FEARGHAL MCCARTHY; CPM, a minor, by and through Fearghal McCarthy, his father; and CCM, a minor, by and through Fearghal McCarthy, his father,

Petitioners,

vs.

#### COUNTY OF CLARK, CITY OF VANCOUVER, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES, CHILDREN'S PROTECTIVE SERVICES,

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW BY RESPONDENT CITY OF VANCOUVER

Daniel G. Lloyd, WSBA No. 34221 Assistant City Attorney Attorney for Defendant/Respondent City of Vancouver P.O. Box 1995 Vancouver, WA 98668-1995 (360) 487-8500 / (360) 487-8501 (fax)

##

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

Aside from negligent investigation, the McCarthys make only one passing reference to any cause of action—malicious interference with the parent/child relationship—and they do so only in the "issues presented" section without any supporting argument. FM Pet. for Rvw. at 1;<sup>7</sup> Children's Pet. for Rvw. at 2. Mere passing reference to a theory without "substantial argument or citation" is insufficient to preserve that issue for Supreme Court review. *Otis Hous. Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha*, 165 Wn.2d 582, 594 n.2, 201 P.3d 309 (2009) Thus, the only cause of action still at issue is negligent investigation.

Supreme Court review is justified only in limited circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). The McCarthys bear the burden to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' analysis on prosecutorial immunity "is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court," "is in conflict with another decision of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Later in his brief, Fearghal references a "malicious prosecution" cause of action. FM Pet. for Rvw. at 17. The McCarthys never asserted that claim below. *See* CP at 1-18. Even if they had, the McCarthys never challenged the Court of Appeals' conclusion that no reasonable mind could dispute the presence of probable cause, *McCarthy*, 193 Wn. App. ¶ 105, which would be an absolute defense if they had asserted malicious prosecution, *Bender v. City of Seattle*, 99 Wn.2d 582, 591, 664 P.2d 492 (1983). Because the existence of probable cause is now the law of the case, and because the McCarthys never asserted malicious prosecution, there is no need to consider the tort at all.

the Court of Appeals," or is "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(4). Because the McCarthys' petitions do not meet these demanding standards, review should be denied.

#### A. The McCarthys cite no authority that conflicts with the Court of Appeals' analysis on prosecutorial immunity, or show that review is otherwise justified.

The McCarthys' case against the City cannot be sustained if prosecutorial immunity is upheld—*regardless* of whether the Court were inclined to consider the scope of negligent investigation under RCW 26.44.050. As such, in order to maintain this case against the City, the McCarthys were required to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' prosecutorial immunity analysis warrants review under RAP 13.4(b). And on this point, they have fallen far short.

Every court that has reviewed this case has consistently and correctly held that Petty's conduct about which the McCarthys complain all occurred within her role as an advocate for the City and was therefore protected by absolute immunity. *McCarthy*, 193 Wn. App. at 336-40; *see also id.* ¶¶ 110-113, 140-144, 155-158 (unpublished portion); CP at 1093-95. This is consistent with well-established Washington law, which has long held that prosecutorial immunity completely bars liability for any "matter[] ... among those generally committed by the law to the control or supervision of the office [of the prosecutor] and are not palpably beyond authority of the office." *Anderson v. Manley*, 181 Wash. 327, 331, 43 P.2d 39 (1935). Thus, as the Court of Appeals reaffirmed below,

"prosecutors generally have absolute immunity for initiating and pursuing a criminal prosecution." McCarthy, 193 Wn. App. at 337 (citing Musso-*Escude v. Edwards*, 101 Wn. App. 560, 570, 4 P.3d 151 (2000)) (emphasis added). This longstanding principle has existed for decades. Creelman v. Svenning, 67 Wn.2d 882, 885, 410 P.2d 606 (1966); Mitchelle v. Steele, 39 Wn.2d 473, 474, 236 P.2d 349 (1951); Schmitt v. Langenour, 162 Wn. App. 397, 406-08, ¶¶ 19-23, 256 P.3d 1235 (2011). Like judicial immunity, prosecutorial immunity "is founded upon a sound public policy, not for the protection of the officers, but for the protection of the public and to insure active and independent action of the officers charged with the prosecution of crime, for the protection of life and property." Anderson, 181 Wash. at 331. In Washington, the government entity that employs the prosecuting attorney shares the same prosecutorial immunity as the individual. Creelman, 67 Wn.2d at 885. Thus, unlike qualified immunity, see Savage v. State, 127 Wn.2d 434, 442-47, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995), the City is entitled to the same absolute immunity as Petty, *Creelman*, 67 Wn.2d at 885.

The Court of Appeals correctly followed these longstanding principles. First, it noted that despite the McCarthys' arguments to the contrary, the comments Petty allegedly made to diffuse Patricia's "reluctance about pursuing Fearghal's prosecution" were all made in connection with Petty's efforts to initiate and pursue prosecution. *McCarthy*, 193 Wn. App. at 338. Consistent with Washington law (and common sense) holding that "[c]onferring with potential witnesses is within the scope of a prosecutor's traditional duties," the court correctly held that Petty's motives to quell Patricia's reticence were "immaterial to the question of whether immunity applies." *Id.* (citing *Rodriguez v. Perez*, 99 Wn. App. 439, 450, 994 P.2d 874 (2000)). In the context of domestic violence, where victims recant at an alarming rate,<sup>8</sup> a prosecutor must be allowed to confer with witnesses and victims with absolute independence.

Second, the court correctly rejected the McCarthys' claim that Petty "strategized with Patricia's dissolution attorney regarding dissolution matters." *Id.* at 339. The court appropriately recognized Patricia's admission "that she was not part of any conversations between her dissolution attorney and Petty" and the only evidence to the contrary was hearsay. *Id.* This is consistent with settled Washington law holding inadmissible hearsay cannot preclude summary judgment. *E.g.*, *SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt*, 181 Wn.2d 127, 141, 331 P.3d 40 (2014); *Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc.*, 136 Wn. App. 295, 309, 151 P.3d 201 (2006).

Third, the court appropriately rejected efforts to hold the City liable for Petty allegedly "coaching Patricia during a deposition" in September 2009 because the McCarthys never "t[ook] any action to incorporate th[o]se allegations into their complaint." *McCarthy*, 193

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, e.g., Tom Lininger, *Prosecuting Batterers After* Crawford, 91 VA. L. REV. 747, 751 (2005) ("Approximately 80 percent of victims decline to assist the government in prosecutions of domestic violence cases."); Lisa Marie De Sanctis, *Bridging the Gap Between the Rules of Evidence and Justice for Victims of Domestic Violence*, 8 YALE J.L. & FEMINISM 359, 367-68 (1996) ("[V]ictims of domestic violence are uncooperative in approximately eighty to ninety percent of cases. Many victims are uncooperative from the initial filing of the case, and *some of those who are initially cooperative become uncooperative.*") (emphasis added).

Wn. App. at 339-40. Additionally, it was always undisputed that Petty ceased working for the City over three years earlier. CP at 360.<sup>9</sup>

Lastly, the Court of Appeals rightly concluded that Petty's act of directing Patricia to report past violations of a no-contact order were still protected by immunity because they "[we]re related to her duty to make charging decisions." *McCarthy*, 193 Wn. App. at 339. Contrary to the McCarthys' unsupported argument, the Court of Appeals' analysis adheres to its holding from just a few years ago, which reaffirmed that "certain investigative acts, when undertaken in direct preparation for judicial proceedings[,] are subject to absolute immunity." *Schmitt*, 162 Wn. App. at 407, ¶¶ 21 (prosecutor who directed a police officer to reinterview a complaining witness had absolute immunity as the decision was related to charging). Whereas Supreme Court review is proper to correct a lower court's departure from precedent, that same review is unnecessary and improper when the lower courts fully adhere to Washington law.

In addition, the record conclusively shows that Fearghal did violate the no-contact order. The McCarthys rely exclusively on the 17-page "correction sheet" for Patricia's deposition to support the claim that Petty stepped outside her role in telling Patricia to report the violations to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In the lower courts, the McCarthys relied on a stipulation entered on September 11, 2009, that states "[a]ll actions taken by Jill Petty are deemed to be within the course and scope of her employment by Defendant City of Vancouver." CP at 2227. The stipulation was executed after the City moved for summary judgment to dismiss Petty due to the Plaintiff's failure to comply with RCW 4.96.020. *See* CP at 2210-22. More fundamentally, Patricia was not deposed until 17 days *after* the stipulation was entered. *See* CP at 121. Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the alleged actions of a former employee could not, under any circumstances, give rise to the City's liability.

police. A review of the "corrections sheet," even assuming it warrants any consideration, see supra at 9 n.6, undermines this premise completely. The "corrections sheet" asserts that Patricia "told [Petty] that I had bumped into Fearghal at Ballys," after which Petty told Patricia to inform the police. CP at 746. Notably, this is exactly how Officer Langston recalled the incident in his report. CP at 75. Regardless of who told Patricia to talk to the police, *nothing* in the "corrections sheet" contradicts Patricia's deposition testimony that the three-page Smith affidavit she authored in front of Officer Langston detailing the violations was (a) in her handwriting, (b) written without anyone coaching her, (c) signed by her under penalty of perjury, and (d) entirely true. CP at 168-71, 213-15; see also CP at 746-47 (leaving unchanged the pages of Patricia's deposition attesting to the foregoing). It is irrelevant whether Patricia, CCM, or anyone else consented to Fearghal's contact. State v. Shuffelen, 150 Wn. App. 244, 258-59, 208 P.3d 1167 (2009). Thus, the record shows, at best, a prosecutor told a complaining witness to tell the police about a crime that actually happened.

Despite this sound reasoning that is fully consistent with Washington precedent, the McCarthys collectively rely on only two<sup>10</sup> cases to claim review of prosecutorial immunity is warranted under RAP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Fearghal cites a third case: *In re Welfare of Sumey*, 94 Wn.2d 757, 762-62, 621 P.2d 108 (1980). *See* FM Pet. for Rev. at 18. *Sumey* considered "whether the residential placement procedures of RCW 13.32 violate due process by authorizing placement of a minor without a prior finding of parental unfitness." *Id.*at 758. The McCarthys have never claimed any constitutional violation. *Cf.* 42 U.S.C. § 1983. *Sumey*, which says nothing about prosecutorial immunity or negligent investigation, is totally inapposite to this case, meaning there is no conflict with the decision below. *Cf.* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2): *Gilliam v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 89 Wn. App. 569, 950 P.2d 20 (1998), and *Rodriguez*, 99 Wn. App. 439. Not only is the Court of Appeals' analysis consistent with both *Gilliam* and *Rodriguez*, the lower court *relied* on both cases to hold that the City and Petty were immune. *See McCarthy*, 193 Wn. App. at 337-38.

Further undermining the McCarthys' claim of alleged conflict is an examination of the cases themselves. Fearghal cites page 585 of *Gilliam* to argue "[w]hether an employee acts inside or outside the scope of their duties is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury." FM Pet. for Rvw. at 18. He goes on to claim the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Gilliam* by "invad[ing] the province of the jury by making the factual determination that Petty did not conduct investigative duties as opposed to prosecutorial functions." *Id.* The children make the same argument. Children's Pet. for Rvw. at 20. This contention is legally flawed.

First, Fearghal misrepresents the portion of *Gilliam* that he cites. That passage was discussing whether, under those facts, the tort of negligent supervision should be dismissed as superfluous if the defendantprincipal concedes scope of employment. *Gilliam*, 89 Wn. App. at 585. That is not the issue here, and that cause of action was never alleged against the City. Significantly, and noticeably absent from Fearghal's cursory analysis, is what *Gilliam* said just a couple pages later when the court *was* discussing prosecutorial immunity: "[t]he focus of an inquiry into a proposal for absolute immunity" turns on how a court "characteriz[es] ... the functions of a [public employee]," which "is a *question of law.*" *Id.* at 578 (emphasis added); *accord Hannum v. Friedt*, 88 Wn. App. 881, 886, 947 P.2d 760 (1997) (citations omitted). This Court has often stressed that legal questions are decided by the court, not the jury. *E.g., Osborn v. Mason County*, 157 Wn.2d 18, 22-23, 134 P.3d 197 (2006). Thus, the Court of Appeals did not "invade the province of the jury" by deciding a legal question that was reserved exclusively for its determination. The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with *Gilliam. Cf.* RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Second, Fearghal's claim that extending prosecutorial immunity here would "deprive[] the protected class of the strong safeguards and remedies implied by RCW 26.44," *see* FM Pet. for Rvw. at 18, was properly rejected by not only the Court of Appeals below, but also *Rodriguez*, the one case cited by CPM and CCM as a "conflict." Contrary to Fearghal's view that chapter 26.44 RCW overrides prosecutorial immunity, *Rodriguez* stressed: "neither RCW 26.44 nor our holding restricts prosecutorial immunity." *Rodriguez*, 99 Wn. App. at 450. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Rodriguez* – it follows it.

Put simply, the McCarthys have offered no precedent that even arguably conflicts with the Court of Appeals' and trial court's analysis on prosecutorial immunity. Nor have the McCarthys even attempted to argue why review of the Court of Appeals' prosecutorial immunity analysis is justified under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Because review of the prosecutorial immunity issue is necessary to salvage any claim against the City, the Court should, at a minimum, deny review as to the City.

## B. By completely ignoring this Court's decision in *Roberson v. Perez*, the McCarthys distort *M.W. v. DSHS*.

The McCarthys devote the vast majority of their petitions to dispute the Court of Appeals' analysis of chapter 26.44 RCW. Notably, they both spend considerable time discussing *M.W. v. Department of Social & Health Services*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003), as either the primary authority with which the court's decision below conflicts, Children's Pet. for Rvw. at 8, or a source of mass confusion, FM Pet. for Rvw. at 10-17. The McCarthys argue that *M.W.* improperly requires plaintiffs asserting negligent investigation under RCW 26.44.050 to demonstrate that the investigation resulted in a "harmful placement decision" for liability to attach. *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 601; *see also* FM Pet. for Rvw. at 12; Children's Pet. for Rvw. at 14-17.

What is strikingly absent from either petition for review is any citation or discussion of *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 44-47, 123 P.3d 844 (2005). *Roberson* held that *if* a chapter 26.44 RCW cause of action could be asserted against a law enforcement agency, *id.* at 45 n.10, the same essential element required to sustain a claim against DSHS would be required, namely that there be proof of causation between the law enforcement action and a "harmful placement decision," *id.* at 48. Thus, contrary to what the McCarthys assert, *M.W.* is not some "unique" outlier undeserving of precedential value.

Reduced to its core, the McCarthys petitions ask this Court to overrule *M.W.* But to take that drastic step, the Court would have to also overrule *Roberson*, which applied and extended *M.W.* Contrary to the

McCarthys' arguments, stare decisis "requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned."" Waremart, Inc. v. Progressive Campaigns, Inc., 139 Wn.2d 623, 634, 989 P.2d 524 (1999) (citation and quotations omitted) (emphasis added). Significantly, in the decade since *Roberson* was decided, the legislature has not seen fit to expand chapter 26.44 RCW liability. Ouite the contrary, the legislature has only diminished it. LAWS OF 2012, ch. 259 § 14, codified at RCW 26.44.280. This is markedly distinct from times when the legislature swiftly overruled this Court's view of the common law. E.g., Rahman v. State, 170 Wn.2d 810, 817-18, 246 P.3d 182 (2011), abrogated and overruled by LAWS OF 2011, ch. 82, § 1. Given that the legislature has chosen to only reduce liability under chapter 26.44 RCW since M.W. or Roberson rather than enlarge it, there is no basis to legitimately assert "a clear showing" that those cases are both "incorrect and harmful." Waremart, 139 Wn.2d at 634. As this Court emphasized just two months ago:

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